Case No.

S276545

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

CHARLES LOGAN,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

COUNTRY OAKS PARTNERS, LLC et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Review of a Judgment by the Court of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division Four (B312967)
(Los Angeles County Super. Ct. No. 20STCV 26536)

BUCHALTER, A PROFESSIONAL CORP.
Harry W.R. Chamberlain II (No. 95780)
Robert M. Dato (No. 110408)
1000 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 1500
Los Angeles, CA 90017
Telephone: 213.891.0700
hchamberlain@buchalter.com
rdatob@buchalter.com

SUN MAR MANAGEMENT SERVICES
Julieta Y. Echeverria (No. 315740)
Brittany A. Ortiz (No. 305775)

INTRODUCTION AND ISSUES FOR REVIEW

This court has granted review of the following issues:

1. Should this court resolve the conflict between the Court of Appeal's opinion here and the opinions in *Garrison* [*v. Superior Court* (2005) 132 Cal.App.4th 253] and *Hogan* [*v. Country Villa Health Services* (2007) 148 Cal.App.4th 259], as to whether an advance health care directive and power of attorney encompass an agreement to arbitrate disputes, including whether the Court of Appeal's opinion conflicts with this court's decision in *Madden* [*v. Kaiser Foundation Hospitals* (1976) 17 Cal.3d 699]?

2. Should this court resolve the conflict between cases like the Court of Appeal's opinion here and *Kindred* [*Nursing Centers Ltd. v. Clark* (2107) 581 U.S. 246], which held that arbitration agreements cannot be singled out for disfavored treatment?

Defendants and appellants Country Oaks Partners, LLC, dba Country Oaks Care Center, and Sun Mar Management Services, Inc. (collectively Country Oaks) submit that an advance health care directive and power of attorney encompass an agreement to arbitrate disputes. If a person who later becomes incapacitated empowers another person to make life and death decisions, it surely encompasses the far less significant decision to arbitrate a dispute with a health care provider. Such a holding would obviate the need for this court to address the second issue. Should this court reach the second issue, the Court of Appeal's opinion (and others) cannot be

reconciled with *Kindred's* analysis of impermissible restrictions on arbitration agreements that are preempted under the Federal Arbitration Act, and those cases should be disapproved.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff Charles Logan executed an advanced health care directive, “Including Power of Attorney for Health Care Decisions” (“Directive”), that appointed his nephew, Mark Harrod, as his agent to make health care decisions for him. {AA 53-58}¹ The Directive is a form that appears to have been provided with the California Medical Association’s “Advanced Health Care Directive Kit.” {AA 53}

The Directive provides that Harrod’s authority triggers when Logan’s primary care physician determines he can no longer make his own health care decisions.² {AA 55} The document states in relevant part:

If my primary physician finds that I cannot make my own health care decisions, I grant my agent full power and authority to make those decisions for me, subject to any health care instructions set forth below. My agent will have the right to:

- A. Consent, refuse consent, or withdraw consent to any medical care or services, such as tests, drugs, surgery, or consultations for any physical or mental condition. This includes the provision, withholding or withdrawal of artificial nutrition and hydration (feeding by

¹ AA refers to Appellants’ Appendix; “RT” refers to the Reporter’s Transcript on Appeal.

² This is also referred to as a “springing” health care directive.

tube or vein) and all other forms of health care, including cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR).

- B. Choose or reject my physician, other health care professionals or health care facilities.
- C. Receive and consent to the release of medical information.
- D. Donate organs or tissues, authorize an autopsy and dispose of my body, unless I have said something different in a contract with a funeral home, in my will, or by some other written method.

{AA 55}

The Directive also stated that “your agent must make health care decisions believe[d] to be in your best interest, considering your personal values to the extent they are known.”

{AA 55} The Directive was signed by Logan and notarized in July 2017. {AA 56-57}

Two years later, when he was 76, Logan was admitted to Country Oaks Care Center (“Country Oaks”), a skilled nursing facility, to assist in recovery from a right femur fracture he suffered in a fall. {AA 16, 82-83} His other diagnoses included cardiomegaly, hypertension, acute kidney failure, “other lack of coordination,” difficulty walking, and an unstageable sacral pressure ulcer. {AA 82-83, 85}

Logan alleged that when he was admitted to the facility, Country Oaks employees assessed his ability to independently ambulate, feed himself, and use the toilet. {AA 15-16} They determined that he could not independently perform any of

these tasks, which necessitated assistance from the facility. *{Ibid.}* Logan alleged that Country Oaks was obligated to assist him with his toileting and hygiene needs every two hours and as needed. {AA 17} He further alleged that the staff determined he was at high risk of falls.

Upon his admission to the facility, Logan identified Harrod as his power of attorney for health care, emergency contact, and next of kin. {AA 82, 127, 135} Logan granted signatory authority to Harrod for various documents, as follows:

I, Logan ... am able to sign for myself but would like to authorize Harrod ... to sign the following documents on my behalf[:]

- Temporary Consent to Treat
- Advance Directive Acknowledgment

- Influenza Vaccine/Pneumonia Vaccine Consent
- POLST

- Informed Consent for Use of Device
- California Admission Packet

{AA 135}

Upon admission to a skilled nursing facility, the patient or his representative must sign a standard admission agreement. (Health & Saf. Code, § 1599.61, subd. (a).) Harrod signed the facility's admission agreement as Logan's "Legal Representative/Agent" on November 29, 2019. {AA 133} He was assisted by Country Oaks' admissions coordinator. {AA 51}

If a skilled nursing facility requests that the patient agree to arbitration, this provision cannot be included in the

standard admission agreement, but must be set forth in a separate document with a separate signature line. (Health & Saf. Code, § 1599.81, subd. (b); 22 Cal. Code Regs. § 72516, subd. (d).) Consistent with this statutory mandate, Harrod executed a separate arbitration agreement with Country Oaks on behalf of Logan. {AA 60-62} He signed the document on the same day he executed the admission agreement. {AA 62, 133}

The arbitration agreement provides that any dispute or claim that relates to or arises out of the provision of (or failure to provide) services or health care, including violations of the Elder Abuse and Dependent Adult Civil Protection Act, will be determined by submission to arbitration: “Both parties to this contract, by entering into it, are giving up their constitutional right to have any such dispute decided in a court of law before a jury, and instead are accepting the use of arbitration.” {AA 60}

Directly above Harrod’s signature, the agreement states: “By virtue of Resident’s consent, instruction and/or durable power of attorney, I hereby certify that I am authorized to act as Resident’s agent in executing and delivering of this arbitration agreement.” {AA 62} Directly below Harrod’s signature line, the agreement identifies him as the “legal representative/agent[.]” {*Ibid.*}

Logan remained at Country Oaks until December 2019. {AA 85} He suffered a fall and his family were unsatisfied with his care. He was discharged to another skilled nursing facility due to his family’s dissatisfaction with Country Oaks. {AA 19}

Logan contends he requires extensive assistance when walking and is unlikely to ever walk independently again. {AA 20}

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Logan filed suit against Country Oaks, Sun Mar Management Services, Inc., and Alessandra Hovey (the administrator of Country Oaks) in July 2020, asserting causes of action for declaratory relief, elder abuse and neglect, negligence, and violation of the Resident’s Bill of Rights. {AA 8-27}³ Harrod was soon appointed as Logan’s guardian ad litem.

Country Oaks petitioned to compel arbitration based on the arbitration agreement executed by Harrod. {AA 32-62} After opposition and reply papers were filed, the trial court asked for supplemental briefing on the issue of whether a health care agent may bind his principal to arbitration. {AA 145, 171} The trial court then denied Country Oaks’ petition in March 2021. {AA 170-178.} The court held that the Directive only authorized Harrod to make “health care decisions,” which do not encompass arbitration agreements with a health care provider. {AA 174} The court also found that execution of the agreement was not part of the “medical decision making process” because it was executed 19 days after Logan was admitted to the facility and the agreement was not a condition of admission. {AA 176} According to the trial court, the authority of the Directive “only extended to the documents necessary to admit Logan” {*Ibid.*}

³ Logan later dismissed Hovey from the case.

The Court of Appeal (2d Dist., Div. Four) affirmed in a published opinion. (*Logan v. Country Oaks Partners, LLC* (2022) 82 Cal.App.5th 365 (*Logan*)). The Court of Appeal refused to follow *Garrison* and *Hogan* and instead followed dicta in *Young v. Horizon West, Inc.* (2013) 220 Cal.App.4th 1122, concluding that “health care decisions” do not encompass arbitration agreements with a health care provider. This court then granted review.

ARGUMENT

I

The Directive’s Provision to Choose Health Care Facilities Encompassed the Power to Consent to Arbitrate Disputes With Such Facilities.

General agency principles as well as the Health Care Decisions Law (Prob. Code, § 4600 et seq.) impact whether the Directive in this case is broad enough to encompass the agent’s power to bind the patient to an arbitration agreement requested by a health care provider. As shown below, both these sources of law support the agent’s authority.

A. Selecting Arbitration is a Proper and Usual Part of an Agent’s Selection of Health Care Options.

Among other broad powers, the Directive in this case authorized Harrod to choose Logan’s health care facilities if he was incapacitated. The Court of Appeal held that this power did not include the authority to execute an arbitration agreement that a health care facility requested. That

conclusion is contrary to this court's decision in *Madden* as well as better reasoned Court of Appeal opinions.

In an analogous context, this court in *Madden* held that “an agent or other fiduciary who contracts for medical treatment on behalf of his beneficiary retains the authority to enter into an agreement providing for arbitration of claims for medical malpractice.” (*Madden, supra*, 17 Cal.3d at p. 709.) The issue in *Madden* was whether the Board of Administration of the State Employees Retirement System (the Board) was authorized to negotiate health plans on behalf of state employees. In that capacity, the Board negotiated a health plan that contained an arbitration clause. This court framed the issue as whether the Board, “as agent of the employees, had implied authority to agree to a contract which provided for arbitration of all disputes, including malpractice claims, arising under that contract.” (*Id.* at p. 706.) To resolve the issue, this court relied on Civil Code section 2319, which authorizes a general agent “[t]o do everything necessary or proper and usual ... for effecting the purpose of his agency.” This court observed that arbitration was a favored method of resolving disputes and that there was a “growing interest in and use of arbitration to cope” with medical malpractice claims. (*Id.* at pp. 707-709.) This court also analogized the situation to *Doyle v. Giuliucci* (1956) 62 Cal.2d 606, which held that the implied authority of a parent to contract for medical services for the parent's minor child “includes the power to agree to arbitration of the child's malpractice claims.” (*Madden, supra*, 17 Cal.3d at pp. 708-709.)

There was “no reason why the implied authority of an agent should not similarly include the power to agree to arbitration of the principal’s malpractice claims.” (*Id.* at p. 709.) As a result, the *Madden* court concluded that “arbitration is a ‘proper and usual’ means of resolving malpractice disputes, and thus [] an agent empowered to negotiate a group medical contract has the implied authority to agree to the inclusion of an arbitration provision.” (*Id.* at p. 706.)

In a case identical to the present action in all material respects, the Court of Appeal in *Garrison v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 132 Cal.App.4th 253, relied on *Madden* in concluding that an attorney in fact under an advance health care directive had authority to bind a patient to an arbitration provision. The patient in *Garrison* designated her adult daughter as her agent under a durable power of attorney for health care. (*Id.* at pp. 257-258.) The daughter signed admission agreements to a residential care facility on her mother’s behalf, which agreements provided for arbitration of medical and nonmedical malpractice claims. After her mother’s death, the daughter sued on behalf of her mother for negligence, elder abuse, unfair business practices and fraud. In an opinion by Presiding Justice Turner, the *Garrison* court affirmed the trial court’s order compelling the parties to arbitrate the dispute.

Garrison began its analysis with what it described as *Madden*’s “black letter statement of California law”: “[A]n agent ... who contracts for medical treatment on behalf of his beneficiary retains the authority to enter into an agreement

providing for arbitration of claims for medical malpractice.”
(*Garrison, supra*, 132 Cal.App.4th at p. 264, quoting *Madden, supra*, 17 Cal.3d at p. 699.) The court then recounted many analogous “scenarios where a person is authorized to bind another to an arbitration agreement in the medical care context ...” (*Garrison, supra*, 132 Cal.App.4th at p. 264.)⁴ The *Garrison* court realized that “*Madden* involves slightly different facts. But its analysis as to the ‘proper and usual’ nature of selecting arbitration as part of an agent’s selection of health care options is directly pertinent to this case.” (*Id.* at p. 267; accord, *Hogan v. Country Villa Health Services, supra*, 148 Cal.App.4th at p. 266 [“an agent or fiduciary who makes medical care decisions retains the power to enter into an arbitration agreement”].)

⁴ *Garrison* cited (among other cases) *Engalla v. Permanente Medical Group, Inc.* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 951, 977-978 [employer’s agreement may compel employee to arbitrate medical malpractice claims with health care provider]; *Wilson v. Kaiser Foundation Hospitals* (1983) 141 Cal.App.3d 891, 898-900 [child who was unborn at time of prenatal medical malpractice and who does not become member of health plan containing arbitration clause until the time of birth is bound by parent’s agreement to arbitrate]; *NORCAL Mutual Ins. Co. v. Newton* (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 64, 66-84 [wife is subject to husband’s agreement to arbitrate]; *Michaelis v. Schori* (1993) 20 Cal.App.4th 133, 139 [unmarried father may be compelled to arbitrate when mother executed arbitration agreement while pregnant]; *Harris v. Superior Court* (1986) 188 Cal.App.3d 475, 476-479 [participating physician is bound by medical plan’s agreement to arbitrate malpractice disputes with its patients]; *Hawkins v. Superior Court* (1979) 89 Cal.App.3d 413, 415-419 [wife is bound by arbitration provisions in health care plan contract in which her deceased husband had them enrolled].

The Court of Appeal's opinion parts company with this sound principle of "black letter" California law consistently articulated for the past five decades by *Madden* and its progeny (including *Garrison*) creating a clear split of authority. (*Logan, supra*, 82 Cal.App.5th at pp. 372-373.)

The Court of Appeal here held that *Madden's* discussion of the "proper and usual" scope of an agent's authority does not apply "where the skilled nursing facility's admission agreement does not contain an arbitration provision negotiated between parties of equal bargaining power." (*Logan, supra*, 82 Cal.App.5th at p. 373.) But as noted above, *Madden* relied on *Doyle v. Giuliucci, supra*, 62 Cal.2d 606, which held that a parent could bind his or her minor child to arbitrate child's malpractice claim. Such a situation would involve the same "unequal bargaining power" as the present case. There is no reason to believe that bargaining power was relevant to *Madden's* holding.

The Court of Appeal also attached significance to the fact that "Country Oaks presented Harrod with a separate document from the admission contract, which contained an optional arbitration agreement. [Citations.] There is nothing, therefore, 'necessary or proper and usual' about signing an optional arbitration agreement 'for effecting the purpose of his agency,' i.e., placing Logan into a skilled nursing facility. Rather, the 'health care decision' (whether to consent to admission into the skilled nursing facility) has been expressly

decoupled from the decision whether to enter into the optional arbitration agreement.” (*Ibid.*)

Nothing in *Madden* supports the notion that the result would have been different if the health plan and the arbitration agreement were contained in separate documents. *Madden* (and *Doyle*) are based on the scope of the agency agreements, not the number of documents the agent executed. “Decoupling” here is a distinction without a difference and provides no basis to refuse to follow *Madden*.

B. The Health Care Decisions Law Also Supports an Agent’s Authority to Bind a Patient to an Arbitration Clause Requested by a Health Care Provider.

In addition to relying on *Madden*, the Court of Appeal in *Garrison* found support for its holding in the Health Care Decisions Law (Prob. Code, § 4600 et seq.), which was enacted after *Madden* was decided. *Garrison* cited three provisions of the Health Care Decision Law. Probate Code section 4683, subdivision (a) states: “An agent designated in the power of attorney may make health care decisions for the principal to the same extent the principal could make health care decisions if the principal had the capacity to do so.” Probate Code section 4684 states: “An agent shall make a health care decision in accordance with the principal’s individual health care instructions, if any, and other wishes to the extent known to the agent. Otherwise, the agent shall make the decision in accordance with the agent’s determination of the principal’s

best interest.” Finally, Probate Code section 4688 states:
“Where this division does not provide a rule governing agents under powers of attorney, the law of agency applies.” (*Garrison, supra*, 132 Cal.App.4th at pp. 265-266.)

The *Garrison* court held that these three provisions authorized Garrison to execute arbitration agreements on behalf of her principal (Needham):

Garrison executed the arbitration agreements while making health care decisions on behalf of [] Needham. *Whether to admit an aging parent to a particular care facility is a health care decision.* The revocable arbitration agreements were executed as part of the health care decision-making process. Moreover, the durable power of attorney expressly states, “[M]y agent shall make health care decisions for me in accordance with what my agent determines to be in my best interest.” [] Garrison was granted the authority to choose a health care facility which: does not require arbitration; makes arbitration optional as to some possible disputes, as here, and includes a 30-day time period to cancel the agreements to arbitrate; or absolutely requires the use of arbitration to resolve disputes over care. In this case, [] Garrison was authorized to act as [] Needham’s agent in making the decision to utilize a health care facility which included an optional revocable arbitration agreement. [] Garrison was expressly authorized to even determine where [] Needham would live. Moreover, Probate Code section 4683, subdivision (b) allows the attorney in fact to “make decisions after the principal’s death,” which would include how to resolve disputes with the health care provider.

(*Garrison, supra*, 132 Cal.App.4th at p. 266.)

The *Garrison* court interpreted the terms “health care decisions” in the patient’s written durable health care power of

attorney to include the decision to enter into an arbitration agreement on behalf of the patient. (*Ibid.* [“At no place does the durable health care power of attorney restrict Ms. Garrison’s authority as an agent to enter into an arbitration agreement on behalf of Ms. Needham”].) *Garrison* also recognized that, as a practical matter, it is logical that the person in charge of making health care decisions for another has the authority to deal with all of the paperwork that admission to a health care facility entails.

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