Case No. S276545

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CHARLES LOGAN,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

COUNTRY OAKS PARTNERS, LLC et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

ON REVIEW OF A JUDGMENT BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FOUR, CASE NO. B312967

LOS ANGELES SUPERIOR COURT, CASE NO. 20STCV26536

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LANZONE MORGAN, LLP
Ayman R. Mourad (SBN: 304161)
Suzanne M. Voas (SBN: 339911)
5001 Airport Plaza Drive, Suite 210
Long Beach, CA 90815
Telephone: (562) 596-1700

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE ADVANCE HEALTH CARE DIRECTIVE DOES NOT EMPOWER AN AGENT TO AGREE TO ARBITRATION BECAUSE ARBITRATION IS NOT A "HEALTH CARE DECISION"

The plain language of the Advance Health Care Directive and the language, structure, and legislative history of the Probate Code all confirm that Mr. Harrod's Health Care Power of Attorney did not authorize him to make optional legal decision for Mr. Logan, such as whether to arbitrate any claims he might bring against Country Oaks. Moreover, Appellants'

reliance on *Madden* and *Garrison* is misguided, as *Madden* dealt with a different statutory regime and inapposite circumstances, and *Garrison* misapplied the Health Care Decisions Law. For the reasons Mr. Logan raises here, several states to consider the question have found that a health care power of attorney lacks authority to execute unnecessary arbitration agreements with nursing facilities.

A. The Plain Language of the Advance Health Care Directive Does Not Include the Power to Execute Arbitration Agreements

The plain language of the Advance Health Care Directive Mr. Logan signed is limited to health care decisions. It does not include, among many other things, the power to make legal decisions, such as waiving the right to a jury trial or deciding what forum Mr. Logan may use to resolve legal disputes.

"The scope of a power of attorney depends on the language of the instrument, which is strictly construed." (*Tran v. Farmers Group, Inc.* (2002) 104 Cal.App.4th 1202, 1213.) The Advance Health Care Directive Mr. Logan executed includes a Power of Attorney for Health Care Decisions, which provides the agent—under the section entitled "Authority of Agent"—with four enumerated rights. These are the right to:

- A. Consent, refuse consent, or withdraw consent to any medical care or services, such as tests, drugs, surgery, or consultations for any physical or mental condition. This includes the provision, withholding or withdrawal of artificial nutrition and hydration (feeding by tube or vein) and all other forms of health care, including cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR).
- B. Choose or reject my physician, other health care professionals or health care facilities.
- C. Receive and consent to the release of medical information.

D. Donate organs or tissues, authorize an autopsy and dispose of my body, unless I have said something different [elsewhere].

(AA 55.) Each enumerated power relates to end-of-life choices and medical care. None concerns the venue for legal claims.

Nothing in the form or instructions gives a consumer any reason to believe that they are delegating the power to make legal choices about arbitration of legal claims. The instructions consumers read and follow explain that "This form lets you give instructions about your future health care," and that "[c]hoices are provided for you to express your wishes regarding the provision, withholding, or withdrawal of treatment to keep you alive, as well as provision for pain relief." (Prob. Code, § 4701.) They say nothing about arbitration or legal claims.

The Advance Health Care Directive is, by its own terms, limited to decisions about "health care." (AA 55.) While only four pages long, the form uses the terms "health care decisions," "health care desires," and "health care instructions" over a dozen times. (AA 54-57.) The heading on the Directive's first page is also entitled "My Health Care Wishes." (AA 54.) (The same phrase appears on the cover page of the Advance Health Care Directive Kit in which the form appears. (AA 54).) Nothing in the form or instruction kit says anything about legal disputes, resolving legal claims, venue, or anything that would signal to the signatory that they are potentially giving someone the ability to, among other things, waive rights related to litigation or control over how and where legal disputes will be resolved.

"Heath care" is a familiar term. It is means "care for the general health of a person, etc., esp. that provided by an organized health service." This definition—particularly in the context in which the term appears on the Advance Health Care Directsive—plainly does not extend to optional decisions about a signatory's legal matters. (See, e.g., *Moore v. Cal. State Bd. of Acct.* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 999, 1012 ["[A] court will adopt a restrictive meaning of a listed item if acceptance of a more expansive meaning would make other items in the list unnecessary or redundant, or would otherwise make the item markedly dissimilar to the other items in the list."].)

Even if there were uncertainty about what "health care decision" means generally, the Advance Health Care Directive in this case expressly enumerates, as noted above, only four types of decisions the "agent will have the right to make" consistent with their agency. (AA 55; *supra* p. 7.) Of these, only the second—whether to "choose or reject ... [a] health care facilit[y]"—is potentially relevant here. As the Court of Appeal recognized, however, this language "does not address arbitration agreements or the resolution of legal claims," and so did not authorize Mr. Harrod "to enter into an *optional* arbitration agreement" that had no bearing on Mr. Harrod's decision to choose or reject Country Oaks as a health care facility. (*Logan*, *supra*, 82 Cal.App.5th 365, 374.)

In their Opening Brief, Appellants elide the plain language of the Advance Health Care Directive and offer no interpretation of the contractual language. Under that language, Mr. Logan never delegated the ability to make any decision other than the health care decisions enumerated on the form.

³ "Health care, n." Oxford University Press (March 2023) Oxford English Dictionary Online

https://www.oed.com/view/Entry/85020?redirectedFrom=health+care#eid1876368> (as of March 15, 2023).

B. Whether to Arbitrate is Not A "Health Care Decision" Under the Health Care Decisions Law

The Health Care Decisions Law (Prob. Code, § 4600 et seq.), which includes the Health Care Power of Attorney that is included in the Advance Health Care Directive, is no help to Appellants either. Its plain language, structure, and legislative history confirm that whether to arbitrate is not a "health care decision." (See *Cortiz v. Abich* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 285, 292 ["[W]e look first to the words of the statute, giving to the language its usual, ordinary import and according significance, if possible, to every word, phrase and sentence in pursuance of the legislative purpose. Although we give effect to a statute according to the usual, ordinary import of its language, language that permits more than one reasonable interpretation allows us to consider other aids, such as the statute's purpose, legislative history, and public policy."] (internal quotations and citations omitted).)

1. Whether to Arbitrate Is Not a "Health Care Decision" Under the Plain Language and Structure of the Health Care Decisions Law

The plain language of the Health Care decisions law restricts "health care decisions" to decisions about health care. Probate Code section 4683 provides that "[a]n agent designated in the power of attorney may make health care decisions for the principal to the same extent the principal could make health care decisions if the principal had the capacity to do so." Sections 4617 and 4615 then define the relevant terms: "health care decision" means "a decision ... regarding the patient's health care," and "health care" means "any care, treatment, service, or procedure to maintain, diagnose, or otherwise affect a patient's physical or mental health condition."

Putting these sections together, a health care power of attorney may make decisions about treatment, a service, or a procedure targeting the principal's physical or mental health. This includes, for example, "[s]elect[ing] ... health care providers," "[a]pprov[ing] ... diagnostic tests, surgical procedures, and programs of medication," and instructing medical providers to "provide, withhold, or withdraw artificial nutrition." (Prob. Code, § 4617, subds. (a)-(c).) As the Court of Appeal observed, these provisions of the Probate Code, like the Advance Health Care Directive itself, "say[] nothing ... about the agent's authority to agree to enter into an arbitration agreement and thereby waive the principal's right to a jury trial." (Logan, supra, 82 Cal.App.5th 365, 372.)

The structure of the Probate Code—which Appellants ignore—reenforces the conclusion that the Advance Health Care Directive is not the proper place to authorize an agent to waive legal rights that have no bearing on a principal's medical treatment. Unlike the Health Care Decisions Law (Prob. Code, § 4600 et seq.), which limits the scope of the Health Care

_

⁴ California courts have found similar statutory powers to be limited in precisely this way. For instance, under Health and Safety Code section 1418.8, subdivision (c), a nursing home resident's "next of kin" has "legal authority to make medical treatment decisions" when the resident is incompetent. However, courts have held that the "authority to make" medical treatment decisions for the patient" does not "translate[] into authority to sign an arbitration agreement on the patient's behalf at the request of the nursing home." (Pagarigan v. Libby Care Ctr., Inc. (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 298, 302; accord Flores v. Evergreen at San Diego, LLC (2007) 148 Cal. App. 4th 581, 594 ["Unlike admission decisions and medical care decisions," which can be made under section 1418.8, "the decision whether to agree to an arbitration provision in a nursing home contract is not a necessary decision that must be made to preserve a person's wellbeing."]; Goliger v. AMS Properties, Inc. (2004) 123 Cal. App. 4th 374, 376 [same].) As courts in other states have observed, it is "unclear" why "the authority to make health care decisions as next-of-kin and the authority to make health care decisions pursuant to a [health care] power of attorney" would be so different that one would "confer[] the authority to sign an arbitration agreement on behalf of another person while the [other would] not." (Dickerson v. Longoria (2010) 414 Md. 419, 445 fn. 16.)

Power of Attorney to "health care decisions" (*id.*, § 4683), the Power of Attorney Act (*id.*, §§ 4400-4465) provides a "broad and sweeping" "Uniform Statutory Form Power of Attorney" that empowers an agent to make legal decisions (*id.*, § 4401).

This broader power of attorney—which is discussed in section 4401 and provides several subjects for a potential power of attorney—includes an option to empower an agent to handle "[c]laims and litigation." (*Id.*, § 4401.) Section 4450 then explains that, for each subject selected (including "claims and litigation"), the principal, by signing the form, "empowers the agent, for that subject, to ... [p]rosecute, defend, **submit to arbitration**, settle, and propose or accept a compromise with respect to, a claim existing in favor of or against the principal or intervene in litigation relating to the claim." (*Id.*, § 4401, subd. (d), emphasis added.) At the top of the form is a "Notice," which provides that the power of attorney established through this form "does not authorize anyone to make medical and other health-care decisions for [the principal]." (*Id.*, § 4401.)

It is no accident that sections 4401 and 4701 work hand-in-hand. In 1994, the Legislature repealed the durable power of attorney and health power of attorney provisions in the Civil Code and enacted sections 4401 and 4701 together in the Probate Code as part of a uniform effort to "enact a new comprehensive Power of Attorney Law in the Probate Code" and "replace the incomplete and disorganized collection of power of attorney statutes currently located with the other agency rules in the Civil Code." (Sen. Com., Cal. Bill Analysis on Sen. Bill No. 1907 (1993-1994 Reg. Sess.) May 19, 1994 [Powers of attorney].) By expressly separating the Health Care Power of Attorney (which includes health-care decisions but excludes unrelated legal decisions) and the Uniform Statutory Form Power of Attorney (which includes legal decisions (like arbitration) but excludes

health-care decisions), the Probate Code clearly delineates these categories of decision and places them where consumers expect to find them.

2. The Legislative History of the Health Care Decisions Law Also Shows that Whether to Arbitrate Is Not a "Health Care Decision"

The legislative history of the Health Care Decisions Law and section 4701 further underscores that a delegation of authority under the Advance Health Care Directive is confined to end-of-law medical decisions, not arbitration of legal claims.

The Advance Health Care Directive form comes from the Uniform Health-Care Decisions Act of 1993. (See 1999-2000 Annual Report, 29 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (1999) App. 6, p. 678.) The Uniform Act was promulgated in response to a patchwork of state statutes that dealt with the decision to withdraw medical treatment after a person lost competence. (See U. Law Com., (1993) Health-Care Decisions Act.⁵) The purpose of the Act was to "solve[] both the broader problem of health-care decisionmaking and the narrower problem of who decides when to withdraw treatment." (*Ibid.*)

Since its enactment, the Advance Health Care Directive and Health Care Decision Law have repeatedly been refined to continue to solve for these two issues and to increase the precision with which surrogate end-of-life health care decisions can be made. (See, e.g., Senate Judiciary Committee, Report on Advance Health Care Directives: Mental Health

2000 Annual Report, 29 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (1999) App. 6, pp. 678-681.)

18

⁵ Available at <<u>https://www.uniformlaws.org/committees/community-home?CommunityKey=63ac0471-5975-49b0-8a36-6a4d790a4edf#:~:text=The%20Uniform%20Health%20Care%20Decisions, health%2Dcare%20powers%20of%20attorney> (as of March 15, 2023). The 1993 Uniform Act was a revision of the Model Health-Care Consent Act, as modified by the Uniform Rights of Terminally III Act. (See 1999-</u>

Treatment, 2021 California Assembly Bill No. 2288, California 2021-2022 Regular Session (March 17, 2022)⁶ ["This bill clarifies that advance health care directives include mental health and treatment, modifies the statutory advance health care directive form accordingly, and makes more prominent the requirement that the advance health care directive be either notarized or witnessed by two qualified individuals."].)

Consistent with these purposes, the Legislative Findings for the Health Care Decision Law state that the law was passed "[i]n recognition of the dignity and privacy a person has a right to expect, the law recognizes that an adult has the fundamental right to control the decisions relating to his or her own health care, including the decision to have life-sustaining treatment withheld or withdrawn" and further notes that "In the interest of protecting individual autonomy, this prolongation of the process of dying for a person for whom continued health care does not improve the prognosis for recovery may violate patient dignity and cause unnecessary pain and suffering, while providing nothing medically necessary or beneficial to the person." (Prob. Code, § 4650, subds. (a)-(b).)

There is nothing in the history of these laws that mentions arbitration or legal proceedings, beyond noting that "a court is normally not the proper forum in which to make health care decisions." (Prob. Code, § 4650, subd. (c).) The statute was not written for purposes of deciding what forum legal claims should be decided. Rather, consistent with the statutory language and language of the Advance Health Care Directive form, the law was passed to empower people to have their end-of-life choices regarding

⁶ Available at

https://sjud.senate.ca.gov/sites/sjud.senate.ca.gov/files/ab_2288_choi_sjud_analysis.pdf (as of March 15, 2023).

medical treatment honored, most significantly, the choice to refuse medical treatment.

This history only supports the conclusion that "health care decisions" are decisions about receiving or refusing medical care that derive from the right to individual autonomy animating the law, not about whether to arbitrate legal claims.

C. Appellants Cannot Explain How the Advance Health Care Directive Empowered Mr. Harrod to Execute an Unnecessary Arbitration Agreement

Appellants contend that Civil Code section 2319—which allows an agent to do "everything necessary or proper and usual ... for effecting the purpose of his agency"—empowered Mr. Harrod to bind Mr. Logan to arbitrate any future claims against Country Oaks. (App. Br. 14-18.) They also argue that the Health Care Decisions Law justifies this authority. (App. Br. 18-21.) Both arguments fail. Signing an arbitration clause is neither necessary nor proper and usual for admission to a skilled nursing facility, and nothing in the Probate Code suggests otherwise.

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